APR 3 0 2014

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON

NO. 31520-7-III

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION THREE

## STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

## MATTHEW HIBBARD,

Appellant.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR BENTON COUNTY

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

JAN TRASEN Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

#

#### A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- The trial court denied Mr. Hibbard his right to present a defense in violation of the Sixth Amendment to the United States
   Constitution and Article I, Section 22 of the Washington Constitution.
- 2. The trial court erred in failing to give Mr. Hibbard's proposed lesser included jury instruction for assault in the fourth degree.
- 3. The trial court violated Mr. Hibbard's constitutional right to a public trial by taking peremptory challenges during a private, unreported conference.
- 4. The trial court violated the public right to access all court proceedings by taking peremptory challenges during a private unreported bench conference.
- 5. The trial court violated Mr. Hibbard's constitutional right to be present at all critical stages of trial when it took peremptory challenges out of his presence.

## B. ISSUE PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The Sixth Amendment's guarantee of the right to present a defense and the Fourteenth Amendment guarantee of due process, along with similar guarantees of the Washington Constitution, are

violated where a trial court bars a defendant from presenting relevant evidence. Washington courts have concluded that so long as evidence is minimally relevant, the refusal to admit violates a defendant's rights unless the State can establish the relevance is outweighed by potential prejudice to the fairness of the process. Where the trial court found the evidence was relevant but nonetheless not admissible, even in the absence of any showing of prejudice by the State, did the court violate Mr. Hibbard's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights as well as his rights under Article I, section 22?

- 2. A criminal defendant is entitled to a lesser-included offense jury instruction on a crime that is necessarily included within that with which the defendant is charged in the information. In the instant case, assault in the fourth degree is a lesser included offense of assault in the third degree. Because the evidence presented showed the jury could have found that Mr. Hibbard committed only assault in the fourth degree, did the trial court err in failing to instruct the jury on the lesser offense, as requested?
- 3. The right of the public and the accused to a public trial may only be restricted in the most unusual of circumstances, and if so, after

a trial court considers the <u>Bone-Club</u><sup>1</sup> factors and finds it necessary.

Voir dire is a critical stage of trial that must be open to the public.

During jury selection, the court called the parties to a private conference, during which the parties apparently made juror-specific challenges. The proceeding was not recorded. Because the trial court did not make any <u>Bone-Club</u> assessment or findings before conducting this important portion of jury selection in private, did the court violate Mr. Hibbard's and the public's constitutional right to a public trial?

4. An accused has a fundamental right to be present at all critical stages of a trial, including voir dire and the empanelling of the jury. Did Mr. Hibbard's absence from the conference during which his jury was selected violate his constitutional right to be present at all critical stages of the trial?

#### C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Matthew Hibbard has lived in the Tri-Cities for his entire life, and has been working at various jobs in nightclub security since he came of age in 1992. 2RP 192-93.<sup>2</sup> By the summer of 2011, Mr. Hibbard had been promoted to general manager of Jack Didley's, a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> State v. Bone-Club, 128 Wn.2d 254, 906 P.2d 629 (1995).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The verbatim report of proceedings consists of three consecutively paginated volumes, as follows: RP (voir dire); 2RP (trial); 3RP (sentencing).

popular bar in Kennewick. 2RP 187, 192-93. This promotion was due in large part to Mr. Hibbard's longstanding reputation for peaceful conflict resolution with patrons. <u>Id</u>.

The owner of the bar, Todd Jones, testified at trial that he and Mr. Hibbard often discussed how to handle situations with unruly customers. 2RP 189.

You handle it in a peaceful manner. You spend as much time as you can with an individual to try to talk him down, and that is one of the skills Matt has always been incredible at. You can sit there and spend a long period of time. It's an investment. If you spend several minutes trying to talk somebody down or getting their friends to get the person to leave and that is again an incident where maybe that person is able to come back later and we don't lose a customer often. It's the last thing we want to do is go hands on with an individual.

#### 2RP 189.

On the evening of July 4, 2012, Mr. Hibbard was working at Jack Didley's, when a group of young men came in. These men had never been to the bar before, and after they were asked by Mr. Hibbard to leave the VIP area, they became angry. 2RP 40-43, 195-96. One of the men, Ben Ensign, started to behave more aggressively, stripping off his shirt and unbuckling his pants. 2RP 212-13; Ex. 39. Mr. Ensign also took a drink from a female customer's table and then knocked over

two chairs, before returning to his own table. 2RP 195-96, 212-14; Ex. 39.

When Mr. Hibbard observed Mr. Ensign's behavior, he reviewed the security videotape in order to see exactly how the chairs had been tipped over. 2RP 195-96. When he determined that Mr. Ensign had clearly knocked the chairs over, Mr. Hibbard decided Mr. Ensign was too intoxicated to remain in the bar that evening. 2RP 196. Mr. Hibbard tapped Mr. Ensign on the shoulder and told him and his friends they had to leave, because they had kicked over the chairs. <u>Id</u>.

Mr. Ensign initially agreed, but then immediately returned to the club. <u>Id</u>. at 197-99. Mr. Hibbard reminded him that he had been kicked out of the bar, but Mr. Ensign swore at him and demanded proof of what he had done wrong. <u>Id</u>. Mr. Ensign's friends promised to escort him out again, but Mr. Ensign demanded that Mr. Hibbard physically remove him from the bar. <u>Id</u>. Mr. Ensign's friends apologized for his belligerent behavior, explaining that he was "f'd up." 2RP 199.

In fact, tests would show that Mr. Ensign's blood-alcohol level was between .22 and .24 at the time of the incident – three times the legal limit. CP 50 (stipulation). Mr. Ensign's friends finally pulled

him down the street, as he struggled with them. 2RP 200. Moments later, however, Mr. Ensign broke free of his friends and charged the door to Jack Didley's again. 2RP 200. Since Mr. Hibbard did not know Mr. Ensign's intentions, he and the other doorman barred Mr. Ensign's entrance to the club. 2RP 200. Mr. Hibbard grabbed Mr. Ensign in a head-lock, and the other doorman held Mr. Ensign by the ankles, because he was flailing. Id. at 170-72, 201. Mr. Hibbard repeatedly told Mr. Ensign to relax and asked, "Are you done? Are you done? Just relax. Calm down." 2RP 201. Mr. Ensign's arms were flailing and he was squirming. When Mr. Ensign started throwing punches, this caused Mr. Hibbard to release his hold, and Mr. Ensign dropped to the sidewalk. Id.<sup>3</sup>

Mr. Ensign's head hit the sidewalk, causing a subdural hematoma. 2RP 17-20. The injuries were extensive, requiring surgery, an induced coma, and extensive rehabilitation. <u>Id</u>. at 21-33.

Mr. Hibbard was charged with assault in the third degree. CP 1-2. Numerous defense witnesses offered to testify as to Mr. Hibbard's good character and reputation at trial. 2RP 107, 109-10, 124-25, 139, 238.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Mr. Hibbard noted that the way he held Mr. Ensign was by design, with one hand pushed against his own chest, so as not to tighten up and compress too tightly, thus distinguishing between a head-lock and a choke-hold. 2RP 202-03.

The trial court severely limited the number and scope of these defense witnesses. <u>Id</u>.

The jury found Mr. Hibbard guilty as charged; the jury also returned a special verdict stating Mr. Ensign's injuries exceeded the statutory definition of bodily harm. CP 52, 53.

After presiding over the trial, which had included a strong showing of community support for Mr. Hibbard, the court expressed its understanding of the pathos involved at sentencing:

With regard to confinement, I don't think I've heard a case that has been more problematic and tragic and devastating to everyone involved than this one. Probably true justice would be that it never happened in the first place. My guess is that the families of both the defendant and the victim are probably under a life sentence.

3RP 28.

The trial court sentenced Mr. Hibbard to 12 months custody, 345 days of which could be served on work release.<sup>4</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Mr. Hibbard cares for his parents and for his disabled child. 3RP 26.

#### D. ARGUMENT

- 1. THE TRIAL COURT'S EXCLUSION OF RELEVANT EVIDENCE DEPRIVED MR. HIBBARD OF HIS SIXTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO PRESENT A DEFENSE
- a. The Sixth Amendment guarantees an individual the right to present a defense. The Sixth Amendment guarantees a defendant the right to present a defense. Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308, 318, 94 S.Ct. 1105, 39 L.Ed.2d 347 (1974). A defendant must receive the opportunity to present his version of the facts to the jury so that it may decide "where the truth lies." Washington v. Texas, 388 U.S. 14, 19, 87 S.Ct. 1920, 18 L.Ed.2d 1019 (1967); Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 294-95, 302, 93 S.Ct. 1038, 35 L.Ed.2d 297 (1973); State v. Jones, 168 Wn.2d 713, 720, 230 P.3d 576 (2010). "[A]t a minimum . . . criminal defendants have . . . the right to put before the jury evidence that might influence the determination of guilt." Pennsylvania v. Ritchie, 480 U.S. 39, 56, 107 S.Ct. 989, 94 L.Ed.2d 40 (1987).

So long as evidence is minimally relevant

"... the burden is on the State to show the evidence is so prejudicial as to disrupt the fairness of the fact-finding process at trial." The State's interest in excluding prejudicial evidence must also "be balanced against the defendant's need for the information sought," and relevant information can be withheld only "if the State's interest outweighs the defendant's need."

(Internal citations omitted.) <u>Jones</u>, 168 Wn.2d at 720 (quoting <u>State v.</u> <u>Darden</u>, 145 Wn.2d 612, 622, 41 P.3d 1189 (2002)).

b. The trial court's refusal to permit admission of relevant evidence denied Mr. Hibbard his right to present a defense.

Evidence of a defendant's good character may be relevant and admissible, if a proper foundation is laid. State v. Grisvold, 98 Wn.

App. 817, 829, 991 P.2d 657 (2000), abrogated on other grounds, State v. DeVincentis, 150 Wn.2d 11, 74 P.3d 119 (2003).

Mr. Hibbard made an offer of proof stating that several witnesses would testify as to specific instances of conduct in which Mr. Hibbard acted in a diligent and peaceful manner on the job. 2RP 109-10. Mr. Hibbard argued this evidence was necessary to the defense that he remained calm, did not resort to violence, even when provoked, and that the evidence was essential to the defense. He argued that to limit the testimony to reputation alone was error. <u>Id</u>.

The trial court properly found the evidence as to Mr. Hibbard's reputation for peacefulness and diligence was relevant under ER

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> <u>DeVincentis</u> abrogated the holding of <u>Grisvold</u> requiring a heightened showing of uniqueness prior to admission of other acts evidence as proof of a common scheme or plan under ER 404(b). 150 Wn.2d at 18-21.

405(b). 2RP 107. However, the court then improperly limited Mr. Hibbard's ability to introduce that relevant evidence. The court held that Mr. Hibbard could only offer such evidence by way of reputation evidence. <u>Id</u>. at 109-10. The court rejected, without explanation or findings, the notion that ER 405(b) allowed Mr. Hibbard to offer evidence of specific instances of conduct.

First, ER 405(a) does not require proof of character be made by evidence of reputation but rather the plain language of that rule merely allows that manner of proof. The rule provides:

In all cases in which evidence of character or a trait of character of a person is admissible, proof may be made by testimony as to reputation. On cross examination, inquiry is allowable into relevant specific instances of conduct.

ER 405(a).

Courts rely on the rules of statutory construction to interpret court rules. State v. Blilie, 132 Wn.2d 484, 492, 939 P.2d 691 (1997). Generally, courts attempt to give effect to the plain terms of a statute.

Tommy P. v. Board of Cy. Comm'rs, 97 Wn.2d 385, 391, 645 P.2d 697 (1982); see also, State v. Beaver, 148 Wn.2d 338, 343, 60 P.3d 586 (2002) (every statutory term is intended to have some material effect).

ER 405(a) uses the word "may" rather than "shall" in describing the

manner of proof which may be employed. Use of the word "shall" creates a mandatory requirement whereas "may" confers discretion.

See e.g., State v. Krall, 125 Wn.2d 146, 148-49, 881 P.3d 1040 (1994).

Thus, the allowance in ER 405(a) for proof of character by reputation evidence is not a prohibition of proof by specific instances of conduct.

But in any event, ER 405(b) specifically permitted Mr. Hibbard to prove his character by specific instances of conduct. The rule allows:

In cases in which character or a trait of character of a person is an essential element of a charge, claim, or defense, proof may also be made of specific instances of that person's conduct.

Here, the State argued, and the court seemed to agree, Mr. Hibbard's character trait was not an essential element of the "charge" and thus could not be proved by evidence of specific instances of conduct. 2RP 108-10. But the rule is not limited simply to cases where the character trait is an essential element of a charge. Instead, the rule also applies in cases where the trait is an element of a "claim [or] defense." ER 405(b). Mr. Hibbard's non-violence and the many specific examples of peaceful conflict-resolution were an essential component of his defense -- his claim that he acted reasonably, and not negligently, under the

circumstances. The evidence was relevant and plainly admissible pursuant to ER 405(b).

Applying the standard set forth in <u>Jones</u>, the court found the evidence relevant. Thus, the State was required to prove the evidence was "so prejudicial as to disrupt the fairness of the fact-finding process at trial" and that this prejudice outweighed Mr. Hibbard's need for the evidence. <u>Jones</u>, 168 Wn.2d at 720. The State did not meet that burden. The State made no showing of prejudice at all, much less a showing that admission of this relevant evidence would upset the fairness of the proceeding. The trial court's erroneous ruling deprived Mr. Hibbard of his Sixth Amendment right to present a defense.

In fact, at the point that the prosecutor objected to the extraordinary number of character witnesses on Mr. Hibbard's behalf as cumulative, Mr. Hibbard argued that there was no prejudice to the State to allow Mr. Hibbard to present his witnesses.

We've already been limited to just reputation. Clearly he has a good reputation ... [t]hese witnesses – I think the last two took a total of four minutes. I think it's important for the jury to know just how many people know the good reputation of Mr. Hibbard. Anybody can find two or three or four but if you have ten people that can say that [--] that is important.

2RP 140.

- that he may have a trial that satisfies his right to present a defense and his right to due process. A constitutional error requires reversal unless the State can establish beyond a reasonable doubt the error "did not contribute to the verdict obtained." Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 24, 87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 (1967); United States v. Neder, 527 U.S. 1, 9, 119 S.Ct. 1827, 144 L.Ed.2d 35 (1999). To meet its burden here, the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that none of the jurors could have entertained a doubt as to Mr. Hibbard's guilt after hearing evidence that he had a reputation for nonviolence and peaceful conflict resolution, which would have been shown by specific examples of conduct. The State simply cannot meet that standard here, and this Court must reverse Mr. Hibbard's conviction.
  - 2. THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY REFUSED TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON MR. HIBBARD'S PROPOSED JURY INSTRUCTIONS THEREBY DEPRIVING HIM OF HIS RIGHT TO PRESENT A DEFENSE

At the close of evidence, Mr. Hibbard proposed a lesser-included offense jury instruction for assault in the fourth degree. 2RP 237. The trial court denied the requested instruction. 2RP 237-38.

a. An instruction on a lesser-included offense is required whenever the evidence supports an inference the lesser crime was committed. "A defendant in a criminal case is entitled to have the jury fully instructed on the defense theory of the case." State v. Fernandez-Medina, 141 Wn.2d 448, 461-62, 6 P.3d 1150 (2000) (quoting State v. Staley, 123 Wn.2d 794, 803, 872 P.2d 502 (1994)). A criminal defendant is entitled to a lesser-included offense jury instruction on a crime that "is necessarily included within that with which [the defendant] is charged in the indictment or information." See RCW 10.61.003; 10.61.006; State v. Berlin, 133 Wn.2d 541, 546, 947 P.2d 700 (1997). A court's failure to instruct the jury on a lesser included offense which is the basis of the defendant's theory of the case may violate the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. Beck v. Alabama, 447 U.S. 625, 633, 100 S.Ct. 2382, 65 L.Ed.2d 392 (1980); Conde v. Henry, 198 F.3d 734, 739-40 (9th Cir. 1999).

Under RCW 10.61.006, a two-prong test determines when a lesser-included offense instruction must be given:

[W]hen each element of the lesser-included offense must be a necessary element of the offense charged, and when the evidence in the case supports an inference that the lesser-included crime was committed. State v. Workman, 90 Wn.2d 443, 447-48, 584 P.2d 382 (1978); see also Berlin, 133 Wn.2d at 546-47. These two requirements are commonly known as the "legal" and "factual" prongs of the lesser-included test. State v. Walden, 67 Wn. App. 891, 893, 841 P.2d 81 (1992) (citing State v. Rodriguez, 48 Wn. App. 815, 817, 740 P.2d 904, review denied, 109 Wn.2d 1016 (1987)).

b. Mr. Hibbard was entitled to a lesser-included jury instruction of assault in the fourth degree because the legal prong was satisfied. The "legal prong" of the lesser-included test required the court to instruct the jury on assault in the fourth degree. To meet the legal prong, each of the elements of the lesser offense must be a necessary element of the greater crime charged and prosecuted. Berlin, 133 Wn.2d at 548. In other words, a crime is a lesser-included offense if a person cannot commit the greater offense without also committing the lesser one. See, e.g., State v. Peterson, 133 Wn.2d 885, 890, 948 P.2d 381 (1997) (discussing analysis in charging of inferior degree offense).

Mr. Hibbard was charged with assault in the third degree, as follows:

- (1) A person is guilty of assault in the third degree if he or she, under circumstances not amounting to assault in the first or second degree:
  - (f) With criminal negligence, causes bodily harm accompanied by substantial pain that extends for a period sufficient to cause considerable suffering;

RCW 9A.36.031.

Assault in the fourth degree is defined as follows:

(1) A person is guilty of assault in the fourth degree if, under circumstances not amounting to assault in the first, second, or third degree, or custodial assault, he or she assaults another.

RCW 9A.36.041.

The legal prong is met, therefore, as each of the elements of the lesser offense [assault-4] is an element of the offense charged [assault-3]. RCW 9A.36.031; RCW 9A.36.041.

Mr. Hibbard was charged with assault in the third degree. CP 1-2. Considering the elements of assault in the third degree, the lesser offense of assault in the fourth degree is necessarily included in the greater offense of assault in the third degree as an inferior degree offense. RCW 9A.36.031; RCW 9A.36.041; State v. Tamalini, 134 Wn.2d 725, 731, 953 P.2d 450 (1998) ("the terms 'lesser included offense' and 'inferior degree offense' have often been used

interchangeably").<sup>6</sup> One must necessarily commit assault in the fourth degree when committing assault in the third degree. Accordingly, under <u>Berlin</u>, assault in the fourth degree is a lesser included offense of assault in the third degree as charged. Consequently, the legal prong of the test for a lesser included offense instruction is met.

c. Mr. Hibbard was entitled to the lesser-included instruction because taking the evidence in the light most favorable to Mr. Hibbard, the factual prong was satisfied. To determine whether the factual prong is satisfied, this Court must determine whether there was evidence affirmatively establishing Mr. Hibbard's guilt of the lesser offense – here, assault in the fourth degree. Berlin, 133 Wn.2d at 551; State v. Perez-Cervantes, 141 Wn.2d 468, 481, 6 P.3d 1160 (2000). "It is not enough that the jury might simply disbelieve the State's evidence." Perez-Cervantes, 141 Wn.2d at 481, quoting State v. Fowler, 114 Wn.2d 59, 67, 785 P.2d 808 (1990). "If the evidence would permit a jury to rationally find a defendant guilty of the lesser offense and acquit him of the greater, a lesser included offense instruction should be given." Berlin, 133 Wn.2d at 551.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The <u>Tamalini</u> Court noted the confusion between lesser included offenses and inferior degree offenses "is unfortunate, because it blurs the difference between the two." Under either analysis, Mr. Hibbard was entitled to the fourth degree assault instruction.

Evidence to support the lesser crime may come from any source, including but not limited to the defendant. Fernandez-Medina, 141 Wn.2d at 456; State v. McClam, 69 Wn. App. 885, 889, 850 P.2d 1377, review denied, 122 Wn.2d 1021 (1993). Moreover, the fact the defendant's primary theory at trial is inconsistent with the lesserincluded offense will not abrogate the need to give the requested instruction, as long as there is some evidence found in the record to support a finding of guilt on that offense. Fernandez-Medina, 141 Wn.2d at 457-61 (in first-degree assault case, instructions for seconddegree assault were mandated by the evidence, even though the primary defense was alibi); McClam, 69 Wn. App. at 889 (in VUCSA delivery case, simple possession instructions were warranted by the evidence, even though defendant denied both delivery and possession); see also State v. Gostol, 92 Wn. App. 832, 838, 965 P.2d 1121 (1998) (in vehicular assault case, negligent driving instructions were warranted by the evidence, even though the defendant denied liability for either). Finally, the evidence presented by all the parties must be examined in the light most favorable to the party requesting the instruction. Fernandez-Medina, 141 Wn.2d at 455-56.

Here, sufficient facts supporting assault in the fourth degree were presented, and the lesser included instruction was requested. 2RP 237-38. The evidence showed that on the night of the incident, Mr. Hibbard came into contact with Mr. Ensign, a bar patron who was aggressive and highly intoxicated. 2RP 169, 196-201; CP 50; Ex. 39. A number of witnesses testified to Mr. Hibbard's standard of care and reputation for doing his job peacefully and with the highest standard of patience and conflict-avoidance. 2RP 112, 118-19, 133, 137, 138, 141-42, 142-44, 144-46, 152, 173-76, 188-89. There was uncontroverted testimony that Mr. Hibbard conducted himself in the same methodical and cautious manner on the night in question.

That conduct is sufficient for the jury to rationally find that Mr. Hibbard did <u>not</u> act with criminal negligence, as charged. Accordingly, in the light most favorable to the requesting party, Mr. Hibbard was entitled to a lesser-included – or inferior degree -- jury instruction on assault in the fourth degree. Mr. Hibbard is entitled to reversal of his conviction and remand for a new trial with the jury properly instructed.

- 3. THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATED MR. HIBBARD'S RIGHT TO A PUBLIC TRIAL BY CONDUCTING PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES IN A PRIVATE UNRECORDED CONFERENCE.
- a. The federal and state constitutions provide parties the right to a public trial and also guarantee the public access to court proceedings. Public trials are a hallmark of the Anglo-American justice system. Globe Newspaper Co. v. Superior Court, 457 U.S. 596, 605, 102 S.Ct. 2613, 73 L.Ed.2d 248 (1982); Richmond Newspapers, Inc. v. Virginia, 448 U.S. 555, 564-73, 100 S.Ct. 2814, 65 L.Ed.2d 973 (1980); State v. Coe, 101 Wn.2d 364, 380, 679 P.2d 353 (1984), quoting Craig v. Harney, 331 U.S. 367, 374, 67 S.Ct. 1249, 91 L.Ed.2d 1546 (1947).

In the criminal context, the Sixth Amendment to the federal constitution and article I, section 22 of the Washington Constitution guarantee an accused the right to a public trial. <u>Presley v. Georgia</u>, 558 U.S. 209, 130 S. Ct. 721, 724, 175 L. Ed. 2d 675 (2010); <u>State v. Bone-Club</u>, 128 Wn.2d 254, 261-62, 906 P.2d 629 (1995).

Likewise, Article I, section 10 recognizes that the public has a vital interest in access to the court system: "Justice in all cases shall be administered openly, and without unnecessary delay." This clear constitutional provision entitles the public and the press to openly

administered justice. <u>Seattle Times Co. v. Ishikawa</u>, 97 Wn.2d 30, 36, 640 P.2d 716 (1982); <u>Federated Publications Inc. v. Kurtz</u>, 94 Wn.2d 51, 59-60, 615 P.2d 440 (1980). The First Amendment's guarantees of free speech and a free press also protect the right of the public to attend trials. <u>Globe Newspaper</u>, 457 U.S. at 603-05; <u>Richmond Newspapers</u>, 448 U.S 555, 580, 100 S.Ct 2814, 65 L.Ed 2d 973 (1980) (plurality).

Although a defendant's right to a public trial and the public's right to open access to the court system are different, they serve "complementary and interdependent functions in assuring the fairness of our judicial system." <u>Bone-Club</u>, 128 Wn.2d at 259.

The requirement of a public trial is for the benefit of the accused; that the public may see he is fairly dealt with and not unjustly condemned, and that the presence of interested spectators may keep his triers keenly alive to a sense of their responsibility and to the importance of their functions.

<u>Id</u>.(quoting <u>In re Oliver</u>, 333 U.S. 257, 270 n.25, 68 S.Ct. 499, 92 L.Ed. 682 (1948)).

Whether a trial court procedure violates the right to a public trial is a question of law that is reviewed de novo. <u>State v. Easterling</u>, 157 Wn.2d 167, 174, 137 P.3d 825 (2006); <u>Bone-Club</u>, 128 Wn.2d at 256.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Our Supreme Court has noted that article I, section 22, with its requirement of speedy and open justice, has no exact parallel in the federal constitution. <u>State v. Wise</u>, 176 Wn.2d 1, 9 n.2, 288 P.3d 1113 (2012).

State v. Strode, 167 Wn.2d 222, 229-30, 217 P.3d 310 (2009) (holding the defendant cannot waive the public's right to open proceedings).

b. Washington courts apply a five-part test when addressing a request for full or temporary exclusion of the public from a trial. In order to protect the accused's constitutional right to a public trial:

a trial court <u>may not</u> close a courtroom without, first, applying and weighing five requirements as set forth in <u>Bone-Club</u> and, second, entering specific findings justifying the closure order.

Easterling, 157 Wn.2d at 175 (emphasis added).

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