FILED July 29, 2014 Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington

NO. 315207-III

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

MATTHEW THOMAS HIBBARD, Appellant

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR BENTON COUNTY

NO. 12-1-00896-9

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ANDY MILLER, Deputy **Prosecuting Attorney** BAR NO. 10817 OFFICE ID 91004

7122 West Okanogan Place Bldg. A Kennewick WA 99336 (509) 735-3591

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

III. ARGUMENT

1. The trial court was in its discretion in limiting character evidence.

The defendant first argues that the trial court erred by following ER 405(a) and requiring that the defendant prove his character by reputation evidence instead of specific acts of conduct. He argues first that ER 405(a) does not require that manner of proof but only allows it. He also argues that ER 405(b) specifically permits the defendant to prove his character by specific acts of conduct. App. Brief at 10-11.

The defendant's argument was specifically rejected in *State v*. *Mercer-Drummer*, 128 Wn. App. 625, 116 P.3d 454 (2005). There, the defendant was charged with Assault in the Third Degree. *Id.* at 626. She sought to introduce evidence that she had never been convicted of a crime, in order to establish her good character and to support her defense that she

did not intend to strike Deputy Kimbriel. *Id.* at 629. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's ruling that her proffered testimony was not in the form of reputation evidence and therefore not admissible under ER 405. *Id.* at 630.

That Court also found that character is not an essential element of assault, meaning that specific acts of misconduct cannot be admitted under ER 405(b). *Id.* at 632. The Court quoted the Supreme Court in *State v*. *Kelly*, 102 Wn.2d 188, 685 P.2d 564 (1984), which held that "[c]haracter is an 'essential element' in comparatively few cases. In criminal cases, character is rarely an essential element of the charge, claim, or defense. For character to be an essential element, character must itself determine the rights and liabilities of the parties." *Mercer-Drummer*, 128 Wn. App. at 632.

Similarly, in *State v. Stacy*, __ Wn. App. __, 326 P.3d 136 (2014), the Court of Appeals found that the trial court acted within its discretion by excluding specific instances of conduct showing his peaceful character under ER 405(b). There, the defendant was charged with three separate assaults and sought to introduce evidence he had not been in a fight since eighth grade. *Id.* at 143. In finding that there was abuse of discretion, the Court in *State v. Stacy* cited *State v. Mercer-Drummer* for its holding that

"[c]haracter is not an essential element of any charge, claim, or defense for the crime of assault." *Id*.

The defendant next argues that is was error for the court to limit the number of character witnesses who would testify about the defendant's reputation. App. Brief at 10, 12. In the present case, the defendant was allowed to call six witnesses to testify as to the defendant's reputation. RP at 111-13, 117-18, 137-144.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in applying ER 403. In *State v. Baker*, 56 Wn.2d 846, 857-58, 355 P.2d 806 (1960), the defendant was charged with negligent homicide. There, the defendant called five character witnesses and the trial court permitted only one of the five to testify as to the defendant's reputation as a good and careful driver. *Id.* at 857.

The Supreme Court found that the trial court's decision was not error. It wrote:

The state did not attack appellant's reputation as a good and careful driver. Therefore, to permit the other four witnesses to reiterate that which had already been testified to by the one witness would be merely repetitious and cumulative. The trial court, in its discretion, properly limited such testimony to a single witness.

Id. at 857-58.

Likewise, in the present case, the State did not attack the defendant's reputation or testimony of the character witnesses. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in limiting the number of character witnesses to six.

2. Assault in the Fourth Degree is not a lesser included of Assault in the Third Degree/Criminal Negligence prong.

The defendant argues that the trial court erred in not instructing the jury on the lesser included offense of Assault in the Fourth Degree. App. Brief at 13.

The defendant's argument is rejected by the logic of *State v. Tucker*, 46 Wn. App. 642, 731 P.2d 1154 (1987) and *City of Seattle v. Wilkins*, 72 Wn. App. 753, 865 P.2d 580 (1994).

In *Wilkins*, the defendant was charged with two alternative subsections of the Seattle Municipal Court's assault statute: intentional assault and reckless assault. *Wilkins*, 72 Wn. App. at 754. The trial court gave the jury a lesser included offense of simple assault. *Id.* The jury found the defendant guilty of simple assault. *Id.*

The Court of Appeals reversed, finding that simple assault was not a lesser included offense as reckless assault because of the difference in elements. *Id.* at 755. The Court found "[i]t may be possible to commit reckless or criminally negligent assault without proof of intent, while one

cannot be convicted of simple assault without proof of intent." *Id.* at 758.

In *State v. Tucker*, the defendant was charged with Assault in the Third Degree. *Tucker*, 46 Wn. App. at 643. The trial court refused to instruct pertaining to reckless endangerment as a lesser included offense of third degree assault. *Id.*

The Court of Appeals affirmed. *Id.* at 646. It found that the recklessness for reckless endangerment entails a greater degree of culpability than does criminal negligence. *Id.* at 645. The Court then found that because criminal negligence is the least culpable mental state, it cannot substitute for any of the other three mental states. *Id.* In other words, one could be criminally negligent in terms of third degree assault without being reckless in terms of reckless endangerment.

The same logic applies to the present case. The defendant was charged with causing the injury to Ben Ensign by criminal negligence. To prove Assault in the Fourth Degree, the State would have to prove that the defendant acted with intent.

The conclusion that Assault in the Fourth Degree is not a lesser included offense of Assault in the Third Degree with Criminal Negligence is supported by analysis.

It is unclear to the State whether the defendant is basing his argument on an inferior degree offense theory pursuant to RCW 10.61.006

and *State v. Berlin*, 133 Wn.2d 541, 545, 947 P.2d 700 (1997), or that doctrine's close relative, a lesser included offense based on *State v. Workman*, 90 Wn.2d 443, 447-48, 584 P.2d 382 (1978). Part of the problem is that the defendant cites authority from both doctrines. App. Brief at 14, 15, 17.

An excellent discussion of the distinction is found in *State v*. *Fernandez-Medina*, 141 Wn.2d 448, 6 P.3d 1150 (2000). The Court in *Fernandez-Medina* found that the failure to note the distinction was not significant in that case because the only difference was in respect to the legal component of the test and, there, both parties conceded that the legal component of the test was satisfied. *Id.* at 454-55.

As discussed earlier, Assault in the Fourth Degree is not a lesser included offense because of Assault in the Fourth Degree's greater mental state.

It also does not meet the factual component discussed in Fernandez-Medina. Here, there is no evidence that affirmatively establishes the defendant's theory of the case, that he only committed Assault in the Fourth Degree. In the present case, there was never any debate or contention that Ben Ensign's injuries did not meet the required elements of Assault in the Third Degree, that the defendant caused bodily harm to Ben Ensign and that the bodily harm was accompanied by

substantial pain that extended for a period of time sufficient to cause considerable suffering. There also was no issue that Ensign's injuries were caused by the defendant dropping or throwing his head to the concrete sidewalk. The only issue was the defendant's mental state.

While the defendant could argue that the defendant's conduct did not constitute criminal negligence, he could not argue that the defendant's actions in causing the injuries were intentional as that would also satisfy the requirement of criminal negligence.

3. Peremptory challenges were conducted neither at a private conference nor off the record.

The defendant argues that the trial court conducted peremptory challenges in a private conference, off the record, without making specific findings or employing the *Bone-Club* test. *State v. Bone-Club*, 128 Wn.2d 254, 906 P.2d 325 (1995).

That argument is simply not true. There was no private conference, nor was there a conference off the record. The defendant cites no evidence that there was a private conference.

In fact, the peremptory sheets show that the peremptory challenges were done in writing, in open court. CP 89-90. Page 89 of the Clerk's Papers is the sheet filled out by the prosecution and defense counsel alternating the peremptory challenges. Page 90 of the Clerk's Papers is

the judge's notations of the written peremptory challenges by the trial judge. The State's counsel on appeal was also trial counsel and can attest to the common sense application of the record. After jurors were questioned, defense counsel asked for a recess to prepare for peremptory challenges. After the recess, in open court, with the defendant's presence, the bailiff would present the peremptory challenge sheet, Clerk's Paper 89, to one of the counsel. The bailiff would then take the sheet to the court, who would make a notation on the court's page, Clerk's Paper 90. Then, the counsel page, Clerk's Paper 89, would be returned to counsel for the next peremptory challenge. After this was finished, the judge, in open court, had certain jurors replaced by others. This is also shown by the Excerpt of Proceedings: Peremptory Challenges, dated January 28, 2013.

Since there was no off-the-record private conference, but instead a written exercise of peremptory challenges in open court, the defendant's argument must be rejected.

IV. CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing analysis, the State respectfully asks this Court to affirm the defendant's conviction.